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1. Annual Directors’ Report 

Management Report by “BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” Company on the Financial 

Statements for the fiscal period from 1st January to 31st December 2016 

The Annual Directors’ Report that follows (hereinafter referred to as "Report" for the sake of brevity), 

relates to fiscal year 2016. This report summarizes the financial information for fiscal year 2016 and 

describes major events that took place during that period and their impact on the financial statements. It 

also describes the principal risks and uncertainties that could affect the Company in the following year 

and the most important transactions between the issuer and the related parties. 

It noted that the accompanying financial statements are the first financial statements that were prepared 

according to the IFRS. Up until the previous fiscal year, the Company drew up its financial statements 

according to the Greek Accounting Standards. With the adoption of IFRS 1, the transition date was set 

for 1/1/2015. 

Chapter 5.1 of the Notes to the Financial Statements includes data and information related to how the 

transition from previous Accounting Standards to IFRSs affected the Company’s reported financial position 

and financial performance. 

Α. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING FISCAL YEAR 2016 

 In the year 2015, the merger of “BIRROS IOANNIS & CO LLP”, “I. BIRROS-F. PAISIOS-G.KOROMPELIS 

& CO SA”and “I. BIRROS - K. PAPPOS & CO LLP” took place through acquisition by “BIRROS HELLENIC 

MARBLE SA” formerly “DORIKA MARMARA SA”, according to the provisions of Law 2166/93, with a 

transformation balance sheet of 31/12/2015. 

 In detail, the reasons and benefits that required the merger of the above companies are the following: 

(a) The engagement of all four companies in related, affiliated and joint activities, in combination 

with market conditions, required their merger; (b) The merger resulted in significant reduction in 

operating and financial expenses, and, in particular the objectives achieved included productivity 

gains, rational market-sales planning, reduction of operating and financial costs and better financial 

results; (c) The above mentioned companies complied with the financial conditions required by the 

law. 

 On 03/08/2016, the Company increased its share capital by € 982,177.02, by offsetting debts with 

the issue of 335,214 new registered shares of nominal value € 2.93 each and selling price 

€ 13.42426032 each. The above par value resulting from the issue of the above 335,214 registered 
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shares, was € 3,517,822.98, credited to a share premium account. Historic shareholders waived this 

share capital increase in favor of MARMOR SG MARBLE AND GRANITE PROCESSING SOCIETE 

ANONYME, which acquired 35% of the share capital of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA, by capitalizing 

the liabilities of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA to MARMOR SG SA, amounting to € 4,500,000.  

 On 31/08/2016, MARMOR SG MARBLE AND GRANITE PROCESSING SOCIETE ANONYME acquired 

15% through 143,663 shares of nominal value EUR 2.93 each, at a price of EUR 1,400,000. Upon 

completion of the aforementioned transactions, the interest of MARMOR SG SA in the share capital of 

“BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” reached 50%. 

 During this fiscal year, the company achieved cost completion – finalization and certification of the 

commencement of productive operation of the investment of “I BIRROS – K. PAPPOS & CO LLP” 

Company, realized in accordance with the provisions of Law 3299/04 for a total amount of 

€ 2,680,840.82. The subsidy amounted to € 1,472,962.45, representing 54.944% of the total cost of 

the funded investment. 

The above events have resulted in significant improvement in the company's financial figures.  

Analysis of Financial Figures 

Note that due to the merger of “BIRROS IOANNIS & CO LLP”, “I. BIRROS-F. PAISIOS-G.KOROMPELIS & CO 

SA”and “I. BIRROS - K. PAPPOS & CO LLP” took place through acquisition by “BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” 

formerly “DORIKA MARMARA SA”, the balance sheet items of the comparative period are related to those of 

the four merged companies, while the items of the income statement are only related to the figures of “BIRROS 

HELLENIC MARBLE SA”.  

 The annual turnover increased by 9.26% compared to the previous year and amounted to 

EUR 17,413,197 compared to EUR 15,937,263 over the previous year. 

 Foreign sales amounted to about EUR 12.05 million compared to EUR 12.13 million in the previous 

year. As a result direct exports are approximately 69.2% of the total turnover and indirect exports are 

more than 85%, a figure which reflects the Company’s strong export orientation. 

 Gross earnings of the Company increased by 21.12% and amounted to € 7,954,282 versus 

€ 6,567,016 over the previous year 

 Gross margin increased by 10.86% compared to the previous year, amounting to 45.7% compared 

to 41.21% over the previous year. 
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 Earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) increased by 

66.93% compared to 2015, amounting to profits of € 4,396,204 compared to € 2,633,572 over the 

previous year. 

 The Company's earnings before taxes increased by 85.85% compared to 2015, amounting to 

€ 3,826,002 compared to earnings of € 2,058,632 over the previous year. 

 Finally, the Company's net earnings after taxes increased by 222.02% compared to 2015, 

amounting to € 2,540,465 compared to earnings of € 786,922 over the previous year. 

The Company monitors the following financial indicators:  

Capital Adequacy Ratios 

Net Debt / Equity 

31/12/2016 0.35 

31/12/2015 1.83 

EBITDA / Net Debt 
 

31/12/2016 1.95 

31/12/2015 0.74 

Working Capital Ratio 

Current assets/Short-term Debt 

31/12/2016  1.22 
31/12/2015  0.86 
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Β. PROSPECTS AND EXPECTED DEVELOPMENT FOR 2017  

Strategic / Investment Plan 

The strategic expansion of the Company's international network and the management of key quarries, create 

the conditions and requirements for increased production and quality of the finished product. The exceptional 

quality and variety of our white marble is a long-standing demand from the global market, having earned the 

trust of the construction industry. The company continues its absolute export orientation as almost all sales end 

up abroad, either directly or indirectly. 

In accordance with the above, and having stated that the increase in the turnover and overall continuity and 

improved profitability is absolutely achievable, the Company’s Board is taking action to boost production, 

rationalize its organization, reduce production and management costs and, ultimately, achieve better financial 

results. 

To achieve all those goals, the Company's Management has designed a plan that includes new market 

penetration, customer network expansion, the acquisition of new existing quarries, and the development of 

new quarries to cope with the ever-increasing need for products.  

The purpose of this plan is to increase the company's productive capacity to rapidly respond to the increased 

need for its materials. The new world-renowned ERP Platform (SAP) will lead to more efficient inventory 

management, and new management offices will meet the increasing needs of Corporate Governance. The 

anticipated results of this plan are: 

 Immediate response to increasing need for products; 

 Reduction of the cost of production; 

 Technology upgrading of the Company's operation; 

 Reduction of administrative operating costs; 

 Global awareness of the Company’s identity to create a solid customer base and establish the company 

as a major player in the industry. 
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C. DESCRIPTION OF THE MAIN RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017 

The Company is exposed to financial and other risks. The overall risk management program seeks to minimize 

their potential negative impact on its financial performance. The main risk management policies are determined 

by the Company's Management. The Finance Department monitors and manages the risks to which the 

Company is exposed; it identifies, evaluates and hedges the financial risks, if necessary, in cooperation with the 

departments encountering those risks. Especially for those risks, we note the following: 

1. Currency risk 

The majority of the Company's commercial transactions is done in the currency of the primary economic 

environment (functional currency) which is the EUR, therefore there is no significant risk whereby the fair value 

or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments may experience significant fluctuations due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates. It also carries out commercial transactions at international level in currencies 

other than the EUR and it is therefore exposed to the foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the US dollar. 

These transactions involve a small portion of its activities, therefore the currency risk is extremely limited. 

2. Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or a third party counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, primarily arising from customers’ debts and investments in 

securities. 

The Company does not have a significant concentration of credit risk in some of its counterparties, mainly due 

to the great dispersion of its clientèle. Additionally, the majority of sales are paid directly. It is Company policy 

to only work with reputable customers. Where there are indications of doubtful debts, relevant impairment 

provisions are made. For other receivables and other financial assets, the Company is not exposed to a 

significant credit risk. 

3. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations on time. The 

Company's approach on managing liquidity is to ensure, as much as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its obligations on time, both under normal and under adverse conditions, without realizing 

unacceptable losses or risking its reputation. 

The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring its long-term financial liabilities and payments. 

Liquidity needs are monitored on a daily basis and the payment schedule is monitored on a weekly and monthly 

basis. 
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4. Borrowings - Variable interest rate risk 

The Company monitors and manages its borrowings, entering into the combined use of short and long-term 

borrowing. Approved credit limits and satisfactory cooperation and pricing terms from various banking 

operations are in place, which help to reduce the financial cost. 

D. DISCLOSURE OF SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND RELATED 

PARTIES 

According to the IAS 24, related parties are understood to be subsidiaries, companies with a common ownership 

status and/or Management with the company, companies related to it, as well as members of the Board. 

The Company is supplied with goods and services from the related parties, while it too supplies them with goods 

and provides them with services. The Company’s sales to the related parties mainly concern raw material and 

merchandise. Sales of services by the Company, mainly concern marble processing services. In its transactions 

with related parties, the Company applies the Transfer Pricing documentation rules according to Law 

3728/18.12.2008. The Company’s transaction balances with related parties and the related results of these 

transactions are as follows: 

 
01/01/2016 - 31/12/2016 

BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA  
Sales of goods 

and services 

Purchases of goods 

and services 
Receivables Liabilities 

      

MARMOR SG SA SHAREHOLDER 3,088,070 147,431 646,914 117,231 

DANAI LTD 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
52,442 216,640 1,115,815  

BIRROS IOANNIS 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
310,303  78,076  

STONE GROUP MARBLE  
MINING 

SHAREHOLDER 
INTEREST 

1,381  1,381  

TOTALS  3,452,196 364,071 1,842,186 117,231 
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  01/01/2015 - 31/12/2015  

BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA  
Sales of goods 
and services 

Purchases of goods 
and services 

Receivables Liabilities 

      

BIRROS I. – PAPPOS & CO 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
500 6,909,184  (886,127) 

I. BIRROS - F. PAISIOS - 

G.KOROMPELIS & CO 

SHAREHOLDER 
INTEREST 

 9,843  (1,620,230) 

BIRROS IOANNIS & CO 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
 1,430 1,302,689  

DANAI LTD 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
190,853 8,100  (725,971) 

BIRROS IOANNIS SHAREHOLDER 183,449  207,021 (103,461) 

TOTALS  374,802 6,928,557 1,509,710 (3,335,790) 

Note that no remunerations have been paid to Board Members nor any loans have been granted to Board 

members or other Managing Directors of the Company (and their families). 

F. DIVIDEND POLICY – DISTRIBUTION OF NET INCOME 

The company’s Management will decide on a later date whether to proceed to a dividend distribution from the 

profits of FY 2016. 

G. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

No other significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date of the financial statements which are 

required to be mentioned. 

DRAMA INDUSTRIAL ZONE, 08/06/2017 

CHAIRMAN  
OF THE BOARD & CEO 

 VICE-CHAIRMAN  
OF THE BOARD & CEO 

   

IOANNIS M. BIRROS  
ID ΑΖ 394910/08 

 IOANNIS A ANTONIADIS 
ID NO. ΑΕ 640922/07 
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2. Audit Report of Independent Certified Auditor 

To the Shareholders of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA Company  

Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA Company, which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 and the statements of comprehensive 

income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility regarding the Financial Statements 

The Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Financial Statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such 

internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with rules 

of ethics as well as plan and conduct the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free of material inaccuracy. 

The audit includes conducting procedures to obtain audit evidence, on the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 

risks of material inaccuracy of the financial statements, due to either fraud or error. In carrying out these risk 

assessments, the auditor reviews the internal controls related to the preparation and fair presentation of the 

Company's financial statements, in order to plan such audit procedures as deemed appropriate to the 

circumstances but not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls. An audit 

also includes the assessment of appropriateness of the accounting policies and methods used and the 

reasonableness of the estimates made by the management, as well as an evaluation of the overall presentation 

of financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Grounds for a Qualified Opinion 

Our audited has shown that the Company’s tax liabilities have not been audited by the tax authorities for fiscal 

years 2010-2016. Therefore, the tax results of those fiscal years have not been finalized. The company has not 

made any assessment of additional taxes and surcharges that may be charged to a future tax audit and relevant 

provision has not been made for this contingent liability. Our audit has not allowed us to obtain reasonable 

assurance regarding the assessment of the amount of provision that may be required. 
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Opinion with Reservation 

In our opinion, besides the potential consequences of the matter described under “Opinion with Reservation”, 

the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA Company’s 

financial position as at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Another Matter 

The Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 were not audited by a Certified 

Public Accountant. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Issues 

Considering that the management is responsible for preparing the Board of Directors' Management Report, 

pursuant to the provisions of Article 2(5) (part B) of Law 4336/2015, we note that: a. in our opinion, the 

Management Report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal 

requirements of article 43a of Cod. Law 2190/1920 and its content matches the attached financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 31/12/2016; b. Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit on 

“BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” and its environment, we have not identified any material inaccuracies in the 

Management Report of the Board of Directors.  

The Certified Auditor 

Athens, 23 June 2017 

 
Anastasios K. Moudios  

Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Greece (SOEL) Reg. No 41391 
BAKER TILLY GREECE  

Certified Auditors Accountants SA  
57 Alexandras Ave., 11473 Athens, Greece  

Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Greece (SOEL) Reg. No 176 
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3. Annual Financial Statements for the period from 1st January 

to 31st December 2016 
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3.1. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 Notes 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Owner-used tangible assets 9.1 9,456,041  8,846,034 

Intangible assets 9.2 441,405  461,437 

Other Long-Term Receivables 9.3 5,649  11,811 

Total Non-Current Assets  9,903,095  9,319,282 

Current assets     

Inventories 9.4 4,094,888  2,547,430 

Customers and other Trade Receivables 9.5 3,625,113  3,630,443 

Other Receivables 9.6 3,071,397  6,006,648 

Financial assets at fair value through results  4,513  4,513 

Cash and cash equivalents 9.7 1,958,331  2,352,082 

Total Current Assets  12,754,242  14,541,116 

TOTAL ASSETS  22,657,337  23,860,398 

OWN FUNDS AND LIABILITIES     

Share capital 9.8 2,806,219  1,883,425 

Above Par Difference 9.8 3,517,823  - 

Reserves 9.9 268,240  268,240 

Fair value reserve  101,132  - 

Results carried forward  1,214,764  (522,821) 

Total Equity  7,908,178  1,628,844 

Long-term liabilities 
  

 
 

Long-term borrowings 9.10 3,039,464  3,374,807 

Grants 9.11 46,962  206,096 

Deferred taxes 9.12 558,686  520,031 

Employee benefit obligations 9.13 86,240  23,290 

Other long-term liabilities 9.14 552,674  552,674 

Total Long-Term Liabilities  4,284,026  4,676,898 

Short term liabilities 
  

 
 

Suppliers and other liabilities 9.15 4,804,864  8,708,222 

Current Tax Liabilities 9.16 1,324,026  1,954,789 

Short-term part of long-term borrowings 9.10 717,483  792,748 

Short-term borrowings 9.10 1,006,424  1,167,823 

Short-term liabilities 9.17 2,612,336  4,931,074 

Total Short-Term Liabilities  10,465,133  17,554,656 

Total Liabilities  14,749,159  22,231,554 

TOTAL OWN FUNDS AND LIABILITIES  22,657,337  23,860,398 

Accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements. 
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3.2. INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 Notes 
01/01/2016 -
31/12/2016 

 
01/01/2015 -
31/12/2015 

Sales 9.18 17,413,197  15,937,263 

Cost of Sales 9.19 (9,458,915)  (9,370,247) 

Gross profit  7,954,282  6,567,016 

     

Other income 9.20 406,789  69,184 

Selling expenses 9.19 (2,216,635)  (1,505,221) 

Administrative expenses 9.19 (1,307,976)  (387,654) 

Other Expenses 9.21 (440,256)  (2,109,753) 

Results from operating activities  4,396,204  2,633,572 

     

Financial income 9.22 291  405 

Financial expenses 9.23 (570,493)  (575,345) 

Profit before taxes  3,826,002  2,058,632 

Income tax 9.24 (1,285,537)  (1,271,710) 

Profit after taxes (a)  2,540,465  786,922 

Other comprehensive income     

Reassessment of employee benefit obligations 
after taxes 

 (6,028)  133 

Other comprehensive income after taxes 
(b) 

 (6,028)  133 

OVERALL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (a+b)  2,534,437  787,055 

     

Earnings per share – basic (in €) 9.25 3.3414  1.2641 

Accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements. 
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3.3. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

CHANGE IN EQUITY Share capital 
Above Par 
Difference 

Reserves Fair value reserve 
Results carried 

forward 
Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2015 according to the IFRSs 1,883,425 - 229,460 - 2,685,942 4,798,827 

Change in Equity for the period 01/01 - 31/12/2015       
Dividends from profits of FY 2014 - - - - (1,130,000) (1,130,000) 

Statutory reserves from the 2015 period’s profits - - 38,780 - (38,780) - 

Fair value reserve from the revaluation of fixed assets - - - - - - 

Impact of acquisition of related companies 31.12.2015 - - - - (2,827,038) (2,827,038) 

Net Income for Period 01/01-31/12/2015 - - - - 786,922 786,922 

Other comprehensive income 01/01-31/12/2015 - - - - 133 133 

Equity Balance as at 31st December 2015 1,883,425 - 268,240 - (522,821) 1,628,844 

 

CHANGE IN EQUITY Share capital 
Above Par 

Difference 
Reserves Fair value reserve 

Results carried 

forward 
Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 according to the IFRSs 1,883,425 - 268,240 - (522,821) 1,628,844 

Change in Equity for the period 01/01 - 31/12/2016       
Increase of share capital 922,794 3,517,823 - - - 4,440,617 

Dividends from profits of FY 2015 - - - - (736,829) (736,829) 

Dividends from previous years’ profits - - - - (60,023) (60,023) 

Fair value reserve from the revaluation of fixed assets - - - 101,132 - 101,132 

Net Income for Period 01/01-31/12/2016 - - - - 2,540,465 2,540,465 

Other comprehensive income 01/01-31/12/2016 - - - - (6,028) (6,028) 

Equity Balance as at 31st December 2016 2,806,219 3,517,823 268,240 101,132 1,214,764 7,908,178 

Accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements. 
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3.4. CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

    

Earnings before tax 3,826,002  2,058,632 

Plus/less adjustments for:    

Depreciations 1,243,999  515,496 

Provisions 153,335  2,453 

Interest and similar income (291)  (405) 

Interest and other financial expenses 570,493  575,345 

Amortization of grants (159,134)  (62,267) 

Operating profit before working capital changes 5,634,404  3,089,254 

Plus / less adjustments for changes in working capital 
accounts or related to operating activities: 

   

(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,547,458)  28,420 

(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable 2,856,357  (735,862) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities (excluding banks) (1,416,138)  2,733,253 

Income tax paid (2,339,772)  (80,332) 

Interest paid (491,518)  (564,929) 

Cash flows from operating activities 2,395,875  4,469,804 

Investing activities 
   

Purchases of tangible assets (1,839,303)  (2,021,719) 

Purchases of intangible assets -  (6,150) 

Sales of tangible fixed assets 23,000  500 

Interest and similar income received 272  405 

Cash flows from investing activities (1,816,031)  (2,026,964) 

Financing activities 
   

Loan repayments (572,008)  (958,616) 

Dividends paid (401,587)  (1,017,000) 

Cash flows from financial activities (973,595)  (1,975,616) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
(393,751)  467,224 

    

Cash at beginning of year 2,352,082  1,516,319 

Cash of acquired/merged companies -  368,539 

Cash at end of period 1,958,331  2,352,082 

Accompanying notes are an integral part of financial statements. 
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4. Company Information 

4.1. General Information 

The Company under the name “BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” was founded in 1997 in Xiropigado, 

Nafpaktos, as a marble trading and processing company under the name “Doric Marble SA”. By resolution of 

the General Meeting of the shareholders of 15 May 2014 the registered offices were transferred to the Industrial 

Zone of Drama where a branch was operating. The management made this strategic decision as almost the 

whole volume of the company's trading was carried out by the branch of Drama and the company would have 

to operate closer to an area with large marble reserves to secure raw material for the future. As part of its 

development, in 2003 “I. Birros - K. Pappos & CO” was founded, aiming to manage and run the white marble 

quarries to ensure supply of raw material to its factory. Initially, action was taken for the licensing and 

exploitation of a marble quarry in Bourorema, Pyrgoi, of the Municipality of Prosotsani, Drama. The deep 

knowledge acquired by the company’s staff in the material and quarrying using premium quality raw material, 

combined with the ergonomic layout of the quarry, the rational extraction of marbles and the creation of the 

plant in the Industrial Zone of Drama laid down the foundations for the Company’s success.  

In 2016, to ensure better goal-setting, all the other companies, namely “I. Birros - K. Pappos & CO”, “I. Birros 

- F. Paisios -R. Korobelis & CO”, “Birros Ioannis & CO” merged through acquisition by “Doric Marble SA”. “Doric 

Marble SA” is renamed to “BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” On 03/08/2016, the Company increased its 

share capital by € 982,177.02, by offsetting debts with the issue of 335,214 new registered shares of nominal 

value € 2.93 each and selling price € 13.42426032 each. The above par value resulting from the issue of the 

above 335,214 registered shares, was € 3,517,822.98, credited to a share premium account. Historic 

shareholders waived this share capital increase in favor of MARMOR SG MARBLE AND GRANITE PROCESSING 

SOCIETE ANONYME, which acquired 35% of the share capital of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA, by capitalizing 

the liabilities of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA to MARMOR SG SA, amounting to € 4,500,000.  

The strategic partnership of Marmor SG SA (Stone Group International) with Birros Hellenic Marble SA, aims at 

creating economies of scale from two purely Greek companies based in Northern Greece. The former is 

specialized in trading marble products having developed a worldwide network of vendors and the latter in the 

marble quarry exploitation, thus securing the raw material necessary for their joint development. 

“BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA” Company is registered at the Companies Registry of the Region of Central 

Macedonia under Companies registry number 38413/010/B/97/0013 and GEMI No. 027467012000. The 

Company's headquarters are located in the Industrial Zone of Drama, Greece. 
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The Company's shareholder structure is as follows: 

Shareholders Number of Shares Percentage 

IOANNIS BIRROS 478,877 50% 

MARMOR SG S.A. 478,877 50% 

Totals 957,754 100% 

The Board of Directors comprises of the following parties: 

Board of Directors Capacity 

IOANNIS BIRROS President & Managing Director 

IOANNIS ANTONIADIS Vice-President & Managing Director 

MARIA SOFIA BIRROU Member 

CHARALAMPOS RALLIS Member 

The above Board of Directors was elected by the General Meeting of the shareholders on 27/09/2016 for two 

years, and was constituted into a body by decision of the Board on 27/09/2016. 

4.2. Nature of Activities 

The Company’s scope, as defined in Article 3 of the articles of association mainly focuses on mining, processing 

and marketing of marble and granite. The company’s current scope of business mainly includes the exploitation 

of marble, granite and aggregate quarries, the extraction, industrial processing, standardization and trading of 

marble and granite products. 
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5. Basis of preparation of financial statements 

5.1. General preparation framework 

The accompanying Financial Statements cover the fiscal year from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 and 

have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter “IFRS”) and 

International Accounting Standards (hereinafter “IAS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB), and their interpretations, as issued by the IASB International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB and adopted by the European Union until 31 December 2016. 

The accompanying financial statements are subject to the provisions of the International Financial Reporting 

Standard (IFRS) 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRSs” because they are the first financial statements prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs, since, until 31 December 2015, the Company prepared financial statements under the 

Greek Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GGAAP”). The financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2015 and the statement of financial position on the date of transition to IFRSs on 1 January 2015 

have been adjusted, based on those amendments. The table below shows the main adjustments to the financial 

statements for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014: 

EQUITY ADJUSTMENT 

 1-Jan-2015 31-Dec-2015 

Total Equity as previously disclosed in accordance  
with Greek GAAP 

3,331,031 2,976,639 

International Financial Reporting Standard Adjustments   

Revaluation of land and building value due to measurement at fair 
value 

1,792,819 1,792,819 

Transfer of multi-term depreciation expenses to the results (272,968) (458,654) 

Recognition of employee benefits due to retirement 55,215 52,574 

Recognition of deferred tax (460,859) (543,652) 

Offsetting of fixed asset grants/subsidies (47,985) 5,054 

Recognition of assets with finance leases 401,573 631,102 

Total IFRS Adjustments 1,467,795 1,479,243 
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Impact of acquisition of related companies on 31.12.2015 - (2,827,038) 

Total equity as this arises in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards 

4,798,826 1,628,844 

ADJUSTMENT OF RESULTS 

 

 31-Dec-2015 

Results as previously disclosed in accordance with Greek GAAP 775,608 

International Financial Reporting Standard Adjustments  

Transfer of multi-term depreciation expenses to the results (185,686) 

Recognition of employee benefits due to retirement (2,641) 

Recognition of deferred tax (82,927) 

Offsetting of fixed asset grants/subsidies 53,039 

Recognition of assets with finance leases 229,529 

Total Adjustments 11,314 

Results as this arises in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards 

786,922 

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 1 and other relevant standards, the Company has applied the 

Standards that are effective for financial years ending 31 December 2016 on financial assets from 1 January 

2015. The Financial Statements have been prepared in EUR, which is the Company’s presentation and functional 

currency. All amounts are reported in Euro, unless otherwise stated. Any differences between amounts in the 

financial statements and corresponding amounts in the notes are due to rounding off. 

These Financial Statements have been prepared under the going concern principle, which implies that the 

Company will be able to continue its operations as a current financial entity in the foreseeable future, taking 

into account the following conditions and actions that the Management has designed and implemented. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for specific assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

The financial statements, whose preparation is based on the IFRSs, require the adoption of estimates, principles 

and assumptions that affect the valuation of assets, liabilities and the recognition of contingent liabilities and 

the entry of income and expenses in the financial statements. It also requires that Management exercises its 

judgment when implementing the Company's accounting policies. Areas requiring the highest degree of 

judgment as well as areas where estimates and assumptions have a significant impact on the Financial 

Statements are shown in note 5.3 of the Financial Statements. 
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The Board of Directors of BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE SA approved the attached separate and consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016, on 8 June 2017. Note that the attached financial 

statements are subject to the approval of the Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders. 

5.2. Changes in Accounting Policies 

In its Financial Statements, the Company has adopted all new standards and interpretations that became 

mandatory for financial years beginning on 1 January 2016. Paragraph (a) presents the standards that are 

applicable to the Company, as adopted since 1 January 2016 and the standards that are mandatory from 1 

January 2016 but are not applicable to the Company's operations. Paragraph (b) presents the standards, 

amendments to standards and interpretations of current standards which are either not yet in force or have not 

been adopted by the EU. 

(a) New Standards, Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to existing Standards which are 

in force and have been adopted by the European Union 

The following amendments and interpretations of the IFRSs have been issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), adopted by the European Union and their application is mandatory from 01.01.2016 

or later. 

 Amendments to IAS 19: "Defined Benefit Plan: Employee contributions” (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 01/02/2015) 

In November 2013, the IASB issued narrow scope amendments to IAS 19 entitled “Defined Benefit Plans: 

Employee Contributions”. Those amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined 

benefit plans. The objective of the amendments is to simplify the accounting for contributions that are 

independent of the number of years of employee service, for example, employee contributions that are 

calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. The amendments do not have any impact on the Company’s 

Financial Statements. 

 Annual Improvements to the IFRS – 2010-2012 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 01/02/2015) 

In December 2013, the IASB issued the “Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2010-2012 Cycle”, which consists of 

a series of amendments on seven issues and is part of the annual IFRS improvement program. The amendments 

are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, although entities may apply them earlier. 

The following issues are included in this cycle: IFRS 2: Definition of vesting conditions, IFRS 3: Accounting 

treatment of contingent consideration in business combinations, IFRS 8: Aggregation of operating segments, 

IFRS 8: Reconciliation of all the assets of the reportable segments with the company’s assets, IFRS 13: Short-

term receivables and liabilities, IAS 16/IAS 38: Revaluation method – actuarial expression of accumulated 
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depreciation and IAS 24: Key Management Personnel Services. The amendments do not have any material 

impact on the Company’s Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IFRS 11: “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations” 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2016) 

In May 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 11. These amendments provide new guidance on the 

accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation when the operation constitutes a business and 

clarify the accounting for such acquisitions. The amendments do not have any impact on the Company’s 

Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortization” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2016) 

In May 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38. IAS 16 and IAS 38 establish the principles in 

order to clarify the way we account for depreciation at the rate of expected consumption of the future economic 

benefits embodied in the asset. The IASB has clarified that the depreciation methods based on revenue that is 

generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset is not appropriate, because such methods do not 

reflect a pattern of consumption of an asset’s expected future economic benefits. The amendments do not have 

any impact on the Company’s Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: "Agriculture: Bearer Plants" (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 01/01/2016) 

In June 2014, the IASB issued amendments by which changes the financial reporting of bearer plants. With this 

amendment, it was decided that the bearer plants which are used solely to grow produce should be accounted 

for in the same way as tangible assets (IAS 16). Therefore the amendments include the bearer plants in the 

scope of IAS 16 instead of IAS 41. The produce growing on bearer plants continues in the scope of IAS 41. The 

amendments do not have any impact on the Company’s Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IAS 27: "Equity method in Separate Financial Statements" (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 01.01.2016) 

In August 2014, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IAS 27. Those amendments will allow entities 

to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their 

separate financial statements, which was not permitted until the publication of those amendments. The 

amendments do not have any impact on the separate Financial Statements. 
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 Annual Improvements to the IFRS – 2012-2014 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 01/01/2016) 

In September 2014, the IASB issued the “Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2012-2014 Cycle”, which consists of 

a series of amendments to four Standards and is part of the annual IFRS improvement program. The 

amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, although earlier adoption 

is permitted. The following issues are included in this cycle: IFRS 5: Change in methods of disposal, IFRS 7: 

Servicing Contracts and Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to the condensed interim financial 

statements, IAS 19: Discount rate: regional market issue, and IAS 34: Disclosure of information in the interim 

financial report. The amendments do not have any material impact on separate Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IAS 1: "Disclosure Initiative" (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 01/01/2016) 

In December 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1. These amendments aim at addressing current 

presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure that preparers are able to exercise their judgment 

when preparing their Financial Statements. The amendments do not have any material impact on separate 

Financial Statements. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: “Investment entities: Applying the Consolidation 

Exception” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2016) 

In December 2014, the IASB issued limited scope amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28. These 

amendments introduce explanations regarding the investment entities’ accounting requirements, while 

providing exemptions in specific cases, which will reduce the costs associated with the implementation of the 

Standards. The amendments do not have any material impact on separate Financial Statements. 

(b) New Standards, Interpretations, revisions and amendments to existing Standards which are 

not yet effective or have not been adopted by the European Union  

The following new Standards and Revised Standards and the following Interpretations to the existing Standards 

have been published but have either not entered into force or have not been adopted by the European Union. 

Specifically: 

 IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

01/01/2016) 

In May 2014, the IASB issued a new Standard, the IFRS 15. This Standard is fully harmonized with the 

requirements on the recognition of revenue both under the IFRS principles and the American Generally Accepted 

Accounting principles (US GAAP). The underlying principles of this Standard are consistent with an important 

part of current practice. The new Standard is expected to improve financial reporting by establishing a more 

robust framework for resolving potential issues, enhancing comparability across industries and capital markets, 
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providing additional disclosures and clarifying the accounting treatment of contract costs. The new Standard is 

replacing IAS 18 – Revenue, IAS 11 – Construction contracts, and some Interpretations related to revenue. The 

Company will examine the impact of all of the above on its Financial Statements. The above have been adopted 

by the European Union with effective date on 01/01/2018. 

 IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

01/01/2018) 

In July 2014, IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9. The improvements introduced by the new Standard are 

related to the creation of a rational model for the classification and measurement, a single proactive model for 

expected losses from impairment, and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The Company 

will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. The above have 

been adopted by the European Union with effective date on 01/01/2018. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 

its Associate or Joint Venture” (the IASB suspended indefinitely the effective date of those 

amendments) 

In December 2014, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28. The purpose of those 

amendments is to address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 

related to the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate/joint venture. In December 

2015, the IASB suspended indefinitely the effective date of those amendments, pending the results of a research 

project on accounting treatment under the equity method. 

 IFRS 16 “Leases” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2019)  

In January 2016, the IASB issued a new Standard, the IFRS 16. The objective of the IASB project was the 

development of a new standard for leases setting out the principles which apply to both parties in a contract –

i.e. the client (the “lessee”) and the supplier (“the lessor”)– for the provision of relevant information on leases 

in the way that accurately reflects these transactions. To achieve this purpose, the lessee should recognize the 

assets and liabilities arising from the lease. The Company will examine the impact of all of the above on its 

Financial Statements. These have not been adopted by the European Union. 

 Amendments to IAS 12: “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses" (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2017)  

In January 2016, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IAS 12. The purpose of those amendments is 

to clarify the accounting of deferred tax assets of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on securities 

measured at fair value. The Company will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, 

although none is expected. These have not been adopted by the European Union. 
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 Amendments to IAS 7: “Disclosure Initiative” (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 01/01/2017) 

In January 2016, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IAS 7. The purpose of those amendments is to 

make it possible for users of financial statements to assess changes in liabilities arising from financial activities. 

The amendments require that entities provide disclosures that will enable investors to evaluate changes in 

liabilities arising from financial activities, including changes due to cash flows and non-cash changes. The 

Company will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. These 

have not been adopted by the European Union. 

 D Clarifications to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 01/01/2018) 

In April 2016, the IASB issued clarifications to IFRS 15. The amendments to IFRS 15 do not alter the basic 

principles of the Standard, but provide clarifications as to the application of those principles. 

The amendments clarify how performance obligations are identified in a contract, how to determine whether 

an entity is the principal or the agent, and, when an entity grants a license, how to determine whether the 

license is transferred at a point in time or over time. The Company will examine the impact of all of the above 

on its Financial Statements. These have not been adopted by the European Union. 

 Amendment to IFRS 2: “Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 

Transactions” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2018) 

In June 2016, the IASB issued a narrow-scope amendment to IFSR 2. The purpose of this amendment is to 

provide clarification on the accounting treatment of specific types of share-based payment transactions. In 

particular, the amendment introduces the requirements for the accounting of the effect of vesting and non-

vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments, the accounting for share-based 

payment transactions settled net of tax withholdings, and an amendment to the terms and conditions of a 

share-based payment transactions, which changes the classification of a payment transaction from cash-settled 

to equity-settled. The Company will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although 

none is expected. These have not been adopted by the European Union. 

 Amendments to IFRS 4: “Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2018) 

In December 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 4. The purpose of these amendments is to determine 

the treatment of the temporary accounting effects due to the different effective date of IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments and the current version of the forthcoming new insurance contracts standard. Amendments to the 

existing requirements of IFRS 4 permit entities whose predominant activities are connected with insurance to 

defer the application of IFRS 9 until 2021 (“temporary exemption”), and permit all issuers of insurance contracts 

to reclassify, from profit or loss to other comprehensive income, the volatility that may result from the 

application of IFRS 9 before the new insurance contracts standard is issued (“overlay approach”). The Company 
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will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. These have not 

been adopted by the European Union. 

 Annual Improvements to the IFRS – 2014-2016 Cycle (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 01/01/2017 and 01/01/2018) 

In December 2016, the IASB issued the “Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle”, which 

consists of a series of amendments to certain Standards and is part of the annual IFRS improvement program. 

The modifications included in this cycle are as follows: IFRS 12: Clarification of the scope of the Standard; IFRS 

1: Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters; IAS 28: Measurement of an associate or a joint 

venture at fair value. The amendments to IFRS 12 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2017, the amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

The Company will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. 

These have not been adopted by the European Union. 

 IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 01/01/2018) 

In December 2016, the IASB issued IFRIC 22 Interpretation. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for 

transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The Company 

will consider the impact of all the above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. These have not 

been adopted by the European Union. 

 Amendments to IAS 40: “Transfers to or from investment property classification” (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 01/01/2018) 

In December 2016, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to IAS 40. The purpose of these amendments 

is to strengthen the principle of transfers from or to property investment in order to establish that (a) transfers 

to, or from, investment property should only be made when there is a change in use, and (b) such change in 

use would involve the valuation of the property that meets the criteria for classification as investment property. 

This change in use should be evidenced by appropriate means. The Company will consider the impact of all the 

above in its Financial Statements, although none is expected. These have not been adopted by the European 

Union. 

5.3 Significant estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported assets and 

liabilities as at the balance sheet date. They also affect the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as at 

the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates. Estimates and judgments are based on historical experience and other factors, 
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including expectations of future events that are considered reasonable under specific circumstances while being 

constantly reassessed based on all available information. Management’s key estimates and judgments include: 

Fair value 

For the presentation of assets and liabilities at fair value, the current market prices were used for every financial 

item. For the Company’s assets and liabilities whose current market prices are not available, values were derived 

by applying valuation methods and do not significantly differ from the values that appear in the accounting 

statements. More specifically:  

-  Investments traded in organized financial markets are measured at fair value, based on the current market 

price of the financial statements’ closing date. 

-  Investments in unlisted securities are valued at acquisition cost less any impairment. 

-  The fair value of investment property was determined by an independent appraiser. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower price between the historical cost and net realizable value. To estimate the 

net realizable value, management takes into account the most reliable evidence that is available at the time of 

the valuation. 

Impairment of Receivables 

At each reporting date, the Company examines whether there is objective evidence that a receivable or group 

of receivables has been impaired. If such evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the receivable or group 

of receivables is calculated and a provision for the impairment of receivables is formed. The provision amount 

is recognized in the income statement. Estimates, assumptions and methodology used are reviewed regularly, 

so that the deviation from any differences between impairment estimates and actual losses due to the failure 

to collect grants to be insignificant. 

Useful life of depreciable assets 

The Company examines the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting period. At the end of the 

reporting period of the accompanying financial statements, the Company's management estimates that the 

useful lives of depreciable assets represent the expected utility of these items. More information is given in 

Notes 6.4 and 9.1.  

Disputed Cases 

The Company recognizes provisions for disputed cases based on information from its legal advisors, if necessary. 

Income Tax 

Tax assets under IAS 12 are measured at the amount expected to be paid to taxation authorities and include 

current income tax for each fiscal year and provision for any additional taxes that may arise out of tax audits. 



 Annual Financial Report of fiscal year 2016  
 

Page 30 of 63 

In case the final taxes that result from the tax audits are different from the amounts originally recorded, these 

differences will affect income tax and deferred tax liabilities for the fiscal year that the tax differences have 

been determined. More information is given in Notes 6.18 and 9.24. 

Provisions for employee benefits 

The amount of employee benefits is measured on the basis of an actuarial study. An actuarial study includes 

setting assumptions for the discount rate, the salary growth rate, the increase in the consumer price index and 

expected average remaining working lives. The assumptions used are subject to significant uncertainty and the 

Management continuously reassesses them. More information is given in Notes 6.13 and 9.13. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

The Company is involved in legal claims and damages during its ordinary course of business. The management 

considers that any arrangements would not significantly affect the Company's position on 31 December 2016. 

However, defining contingent liabilities related to claims and damages is a complex process that includes 

judgments about potential consequences and interpretations of laws and regulations. Changes in judgments or 

interpretations are likely to lead to an increase or decrease in the Company's future contingent liabilities. More 

information is given in Notes 6.15 and 11. 

6. Key accounting principles 

The principal accounting policies that were adopted and are abided by for the preparation of the accompanying 

financial statements in accordance with IFRSs are mentioned in the following paragraphs:  

6.1. Currency conversions 

(i) Functional and presentation currency: 

The Company's Financial Statements are valued using the currency of the economic environment in which each 

entity operates (functional currency). The Financial Statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company's 

functional currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates applicable 

on the transaction date. Receivables, cash and foreign currency liabilities at the date of preparation of the 

financial statements are adjusted to reflect the exchange rates at the date of preparation of the financial 

statements. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the conversion of monetary items denominated in foreign 

currency during the year and at the date of the financial statements at the applicable exchange rates, are 

recognized in the income statement. 
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6.2. Information per segment 

The Company applies IFRS 8 for monitoring segmental activities. Segments are determined based on the entity’s 

structure, based on the inside information received by Management, which is responsible for making financial 

decisions. A segment is a distinct part of the Company’s activity and either concerned with the provision of 

services or the production of specific products (business segment) or provides services to a particular economic 

environment (geographical segment), whose object, risks and rewards differ from the Company’s other areas 

of activity. 

6.3. Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 

equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets that are covered and regulated by the provisions of IAS 39 

are classified according to their nature and characteristics into one of the following four categories: 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

Loans and receivables; 

Held-to-maturity investments; and 

Available-for-sale financial assets. 

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets that meet any of the following conditions: 

-  Financial assets held for trading (including financial instruments, except those designated hedging 

instruments, acquired or held for the purpose of sale or repurchase, or which are part of a portfolio of 

identified instruments). 

-  Upon initial recognition, the asset is designated by the entity as an asset measured at fair value, with 

recognition of changes in the Income Statement. 

Realized and unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at 

fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. 

ii. Loans and receivables 

They are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market with no intention of trading. 

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except those with maturities greater than 12 months from 

the date of the financial statements. The latter are included in non-current assets. 

Loans and receivables are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any 

impairment loss. Depreciation from the application of the effective interest method is included in the financial 

income of the income statement. The Group has classified trade and other receivables in this category, quoted 

at nominal value less the provision for doubtful debts. 
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6.4. Tangible Assets 

Tangible assets include property, plant and equipment, means of transport and other fixed equipment (furniture, 

computers, etc.) used by the Company to achieve its operational purpose. 

The Company measured the fair value of property, plant and equipment as at 1 January 2015 (date of transition 

to IFRSs) and these fair values were used as deemed cost at the date of transition to IFRSs. Goodwill arising 

from the valuation was credited to retained earnings. 

Property (land, buildings) is used either for work (production) or for administrative purposes. In the 

land/buildings category each asset is initially valued at acquisition cost, that is at historical cost. Next, for a 

more accurate representation of the economic value of these properties, independent appraisers make a regular 

assessment of the fair market value of these properties. Cumulative depreciation at the date of the new estimate 

is written off and the net amount of the estimate of the asset is credited to a special reserve. Any increase in 

depreciation arising out of revaluation of fixed assets is debited to the revaluation reserve, under Own Funds. 

Instead, any depreciation arising out of revaluation reduces the reserve. 

Any costs directly related to the acquisition of a building –such as transfer taxes, notaries’ fees, broker’s fees 

etc.– increase their acquisition cost. 

Costs subsequent to asset acquisition increase the acquisition value only when it is certain that economic 

benefits will be incurred. All other maintenance and installation costs arising are recognized in the statement of 

comprehensive income for that fiscal year. 

Tangible assets also include fixed assets under construction, regardless of the future use of the tangible asset. 

These are valued at historical cost, that is, the cost paid up to the current stage of construction. No depreciation 

is made on such tangible assets. Depreciation is carried out upon completion and start-up for production or 

investment purposes. 

When the under-construction assets are completed, they are transferred either to the corresponding accounts 

of the tangible assets (e.g. plots, buildings, machinery, etc.) if their use is intended to serve the Company's 

operational purposes, or to investment property if they are investments. The initial cost of these tangible assets 

is the historical cost upon completion. Subsequently, however, if the asset is a plot or a building, it is revalued 

as stated above. 

Other classes of tangible assets (plant and equipment, furniture and other equipment, means of transport) are 

valued at historical cost, less depreciation.  
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Costs subsequent to the acquisition of a tangible asset in order to increase its future value and production 

capacity may be capitalized. In any other case, those costs are transferred to and burden the profit and loss 

for that financial year (e.g. asset maintenance costs, etc.). 

Land is not depreciated. The remaining tangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their 

estimated useful life, as follows: 

Type of asset Years of useful life 
Buildings 25 
Machinery-technical installations 10 
Transportation equipment 6-8 
Furniture & other equipment 5-10 

The residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are subject to review at each balance sheet date. When 

the book value of tangible assets exceeds their recoverable value, the difference (impairment) is immediately 

entered as an expense in the profit and loss. Upon the disposal of tangible assets, the difference between the 

proceeds and the book value is entered as a profit and loss in the results. Repairs and maintenance costs are 

entered as expenses in the period concerned. Self-constructed tangible assets constitute an addition to the 

acquisition cost of tangible assets at values that include the direct costs such as the payroll of personnel 

participating in their construction (corresponding employer contributions), cost of consumed materials and other 

general costs.  

6.5. Intangible assets 

Included in this category are software programs, which are stated at acquisition cost less their accumulated 

depreciation. Depreciation is calculated based on the duration of the expected useful life of the software, which 

the Company has set from 5 to 10 years. Expenses concerned with the maintenance of the software programs 

are recognized in the income statement that they occur. Conversely, expenditure that enhances or extends the 

performance of computer software programs beyond their original specifications or software upgrade expenses 

are respectively incorporated in the acquisition cost, only if they can be measured reliably. 

Other intangible assets include the future costs for the restoration of marble quarry lands upon expiry of their 

license. These costs are initially recognized at the present value of future contingent liabilities and are 

subsequently depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on the basis of the useful life of the operating licenses, ie 

at least 30 years (15+15 years). 

6.6. Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lesser value between their acquisition cost or production cost and net realizable 

value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of inventories includes the purchase 

cost, costs of materials, production costs and other costs that were incurred to get the inventories to their 

present state. 
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The net realizable value of inventories is considered the estimated selling price of these under normal course 

of business, less estimated selling costs. 

6.7. Trade and other receivables 

Short-term receivable accounts, which generally have a credit of up to 360 days, are shown at their face value 

after provisions for any non-receivable balances, while long-term receivable accounts (balances that deviate 

from normal credit terms) are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Provisions 

for doubtful debts are made when it is no longer probable that the entire amount due will be collected. The rest 

of provisions for doubtful debts is appropriately adjusted at each reporting date to reflect potential relevant 

risks. Any deletion of customer balances is charged to the existing provision for doubtful debts. It is Company 

policy not to waive any debts until all possible legal actions for collection have been taken. The provision amount 

is recognized as expenditure in selling expenses in the income statement. Subsequent recoveries for which a 

provision had been made are credited to Other Operating Income in the income statement. 

6.8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, sight accounts and short-term highly liquid investments such as money 

market products and bank deposits. The money market products are financial assets held at fair value through 

the income statement. 

6.9. Leases 

(a) Finance leases 

Leases of fixed assets where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair 

value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is 

apportioned between the liability and the finance charge, so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 

on the remaining balance of the liability. The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges, are 

included in the liabilities. The part of financial expenses relating to finance leases is recognized in the income 

statement during the lease term. Fixed assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the useful 

life of the asset, except where there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain ownership of the 

asset at the end of the lease, when it is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life and the lease term. 
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(b) Operating leases 

Leases where the lessor transfers the right to use an asset for an agreed period without transferring the risks 

and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as operating leases. The payments made for operating leases 

(lease payments corresponding to the use of the leased asset, net of any incentives received from the lessor) 

are recognized in the income statement during the lease term. 

6.10. Share Capital 

The share capital consists of ordinary shares and appears in equity. Expenses that are directly attributable to 

the share capital increase are deducted from the proceeds and equally reduce equity. Dividends on ordinary 

shares are recognized as a liability in the period that they have been approved by the shareholders. The cost 

of acquiring own shares, including the various costs, is deducted from equity, until the own shares are sold or 

canceled. If the own shares are sold or reissued, any consideration is directly recognized in equity. 

6.11. Difference from the issue of Above Par Shares 

The share capital includes the Company’s ordinary shares. The difference between the nominal value of shares 

and their issue price is recorded as an Above Par Reserve. Direct expenses for the issue of shares appear, after 

deducting the relevant income tax, in a reduction of the issue product, that is as a deduction from above par 

difference. 

6.12. Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, the settlement is probable via an outflow of resources and the exact amount of the liability can be 

reliably estimated. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the present value 

of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Contingent assets are not recognized in the 

financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

6.13. Employee Benefits 

Short-term benefits: Short-term employee benefits (other than termination benefits) in cash and in kind are 

recognized as an expense when accrued. Any unpaid amount is recognized as a liability, and if the amount 

already paid exceeds the amount of benefits, the enterprise recognizes the excess amount as an asset (prepaid 

expense) only to the extent that the prepayment will lead to a reduction in future payments or a refund. 

Post-employment benefits: Post-employment benefits include lump-sum retirement benefits, pensions and 

other benefits paid to workers after termination of employment in exchange for their service. The Company's 

obligations for retirement benefits apply both to defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans.  
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The accrued cost of defined contribution plans is recognized as an expense for the period in question. 

Retirement plans adopted by the Company are funded partly through payments to insurance companies or state 

social insurance funds. 

(a) Defined contribution plan 

Under defined contribution plans the Company pays contributions to insurance funds (e.g. the Social Insurance 

Institute in Greece), but has no further legal obligation if the fund does not have sufficient assets to pay all of 

the employees' entitlements to post-employment benefits. The entity's obligation is therefore effectively limited 

to the amount it agrees to contribute to the fund. The contribution payable by the Company under a defined 

contribution plan is recognized as a liability after deducting the amount paid, and accrued contributions are 

recognized as an expense in the income statement. 

(b) Defined benefit plan (Unfunded) 

Pursuant to Laws 2112/20 and 4093/2012, the Company shall pay employees compensation for dismissal or 

leave due to retirement. The amount of compensation paid depends on the years of service, level of 

remuneration and the way the employment is ended (dismissal or retirement). Entitlement to participate in 

these programs is usually based on the employee's years of service until retirement. 

The liability recognized in the Statement of Financial Position for defined benefit plans is the current value of 

the defined benefit liability less the fair value of the plan assets (reserve from payments to the insurance 

company) and any changes arising from any actuarial profit or loss and past service cost. The defined benefit 

obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. For the 

2016 prepayment, the selected interest rate follows the trend of iBoxx AA Corporate Overall 10+ EUR indices 

and iBoxx AA Corporate Overall 15+ EUR indices, which are considered consistent with the IAS 19 principles. 

This means it is based on bonds related to the currency and the estimated duration respectively, in relation to 

employee benefits, and is recommended for long-term provisions. 

A defined benefit scheme is determined based on various factors, such as age, years of service, salary, specific 

obligations for payable benefits. Provisions for this period are included in the relevant personnel costs in the 

attached separate and consolidated income statements and consist of current and past service cost, relevant 

financial cost, actuarial gains or losses and any potential additional charges. Regarding unrecognized actuarial 

gains or losses, the revised IAS 19 is followed, which includes a series of amendments to the accounting for 

defined benefit plans, such as: 

 recognition of actuarial gains/losses in other comprehensive income and their final exclusion from the 

income statement; 
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 non-recognition of expected return on plan assets in the income statement, but recognition of interest 

on the net asset/(liability) of the benefit calculated at the discount rate used for the measurement of 

the defined benefit obligation; 

 recognition of past service cost in the income statement at the earliest of the dates of amendment to 

the plan or when the relevant restructuring or termination benefit is recognized; 

 other changes include new disclosures, such as quantitative sensitivity analysis. 

6.14. Grants 

A grant is the support provided to an enterprise by the State in the form of resource transfers in return for past 

or future resources associated with its operation. Government grants are not included in this concept because 

of their form, they are not susceptible to valuation, and transactions with the Government which cannot be 

distinguished from the entity’s normal transactions. 

The Company recognizes the government grants that cumulatively meet the following criteria: a) there is 

reasonable certainty that the company has complied or will comply with the terms of the grant and b) the 

amount of the grant has been received or is likely to be received. The grant is recognized as income over the 

period necessary to match them with the related costs, for which they are intended to compensate, on a 

systematic basis. Grants relating to assets are included in long-term liabilities as deferred income and are 

recognized systematically and rationally as revenue over the useful life of the fixed asset. 

6.15. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has present legal or constructive obligations as a result of past 

events, payment is probable through an outflow of resources and the amounts of liabilities can be estimated 

reliably. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the present value of 

expenditures required to settle the obligation. With regard to provisions expected to be paid in the long run, 

where the time value of money is material, measurements are at discounted present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the liability, where appropriate. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in financial statements, but should be disclosed unless the possibility of 

an outflow of economic resources is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in financial statements, but 

should be disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

6.16. Revenue 

a) Sale of goods: Revenue from the sale of goods and merchandise includes the fair value of that sale, net of 

VAT, discounts and returns. Sales of goods are recognized when the Company delivers the goods to the 

customer, the customer has accepted the products and collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably 

assured. 



 Annual Financial Report of fiscal year 2016  
 

Page 38 of 63 

b) Rendering of services: Revenue from services is recognized in the period in which the services are provided, 

based on the service completion stage with regard to all the services provided. 

c) Interest: Interest income is recognized as it accrues on a time proportion basis using the effective interest 

method. When a receivable is impaired, the carrying value is reduced to their recoverable amount which is the 

present value of expected future cash flows discounted by the initial effective interest rate. Interest is then 

calculated at the same rate on the impaired (new carrying) value. 

d) Dividends: Dividend income is recognized in the Income Statement as income on the date their distribution 

is approved by the Annual General Assembly of Shareholders. 

6.17. Financial income/expenses 

Net financial expenses consist of interest expenses on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate 

method, the interest income from invested cash items, dividend income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

gains and losses on hedging instruments that are recognized in the profit and loss account. Accrued interest 

income is recognized in the income statement using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 

recognized in the income statement on the date of that the dividend distribution is approved. 

6.18. Income Tax 

Income tax in the income statement consists of tax of current and deferred tax. 

(i) Current income tax: 

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax statements of financial position of each of the companies 

included in the consolidated financial statements, in accordance with the tax laws applicable in Greece or other 

tax schemes under which the foreign subsidiaries operate. Expenditure on current income tax includes income 

tax resulting from the profits of each company as restated in its tax returns and provisions for additional taxes 

and surcharges for unaudited tax years, and is calculated in accordance with statutory or substantially 

institutionalized tax rates. 

(ii) Deferred income tax: 

Deferred taxes are taxes or tax reliefs related to financial burdens or benefits arising in a tax year, but have 

already been accounted for or accounted for by the tax authorities in different tax years. Deferred income tax 

is calculated using the liability method on all temporary differences on the date of the statement of financial 

position between the tax base and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are 

recognized in respect of all taxable temporary differences unless the deferred tax liability results from the 

amortization of goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability other than in a business combination 

which, at the time of the transaction, does not affect either the accounting profit or the taxable profit or loss. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused tax 

credits and tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences and the unused tax loss or credit carryforward can be utilised. Deferred tax 

assets are measured at each balance sheet date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be 

utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates/laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period. In the event that the timing of the reversal of temporary differences 

can not be clearly determined, the tax rate applicable on the date following the Statement of Financial Position 

is applied. 

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and 

associates, and interests in joint arrangements, are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and that taxable profit will be available against which 

the temporary difference will be utilised. 

Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as part of tax expenditure in the Income 

Statement. Only income tax relating to items directly recognized in equity is directly recognized in equity and 

not in the income statement. 

The Company offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if: 

a) there is an applicable legal right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities. 

b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority. 

6.19. Earnings per share 

The Company presents the data on basic and diluted earnings per share for its ordinary shares in the financial 

statements. Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to each share 

with the weighted average of ordinary shares. 

6.20. Dividend distribution 

The distribution of dividends to the parent company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the consolidated 

financial statements as at the date on which the distribution is approved by the General Assembly of 

shareholders. 
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6.21. Related Parties 

The transactions and intercompany balances between parties that are related with the Company are disclosed 

in accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. These transactions relate to the transactions between 

the management, the principal shareholders and the subsidiaries of a group with the parent Company and the 

other subsidiaries that make up the Group. 
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7. Risk Management 

7.1. Use of financial instruments 

The Company uses financial instruments for trading, financial and investment purposes. The Company’s use of 

financial instruments substantially affect the financial position, profitability and cash flows. 

Below is an analysis of the value and categories of financial instruments available to the Company and the 

accounts of the Statement of Financial Position in which these financial instruments are recognized. 

7.2. Financial risk factors 

The Company is exposed to financial risks such as market risk (including foreign exchange, interest rates, 

market prices), credit risk, liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the 

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial 

performance. Risk management is carried out by the Company's central finance department. The Board of 

Directors provides instructions and guidelines on general risk management and special instructions on managing 

specific risks such as currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. The procedure is as follows: 

 Evaluation of risks related to the Company’s activities and operations; 

 Design of the methodology and selection of appropriate actions and/or financial products to reduce 

risks; and 

 Execution/implementation, in accordance with the risk management procedure that is approved by 

management. 

The Company's financial instruments consist mainly of bank deposits, bank overdrafts, trade debs and 

receivables, payable dividends and borrowings. The following risks are main risks arising from financial 

instruments available to the Company: 

 market risk (interest rate risk and currency risk) 

 Credit risk 

 Liquidity risk 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in market prices. The risk for the Company is mainly focused on the risk of changes in interest rates 

and foreign currency rates. 

Currency risk 

The majority of the Company's commercial transactions is done in the currency of the primary economic 

environment (functional currency) which is the EUR, therefore there is no significant risk whereby the fair value 

or future cash flows of the Company’s financial instruments may experience significant fluctuations due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates.  
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Interest rate risk 

The Company’s borrowings are linked to variable interest rates. The Company does not use financial derivatives. 

As in the previous year, balances (excluding borrowings) of other financial assets and other financial liabilities 

are not significantly affected by interest rates. The Company monitors and manages its borrowings, entering 

into the combined use of short and long-term borrowing. There are approved credit limits and satisfactory 

cooperation and pricing terms of various banking operations, which help to reduce the Company’s financial cost. 

The following table summarizes the Company's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31/12/16 and 31/12/15.  

31/12/2016 

(a) Financial Assets 

 
Interest at a 
variable rate 

Interest at  
a fixed rate 

Interest-free Total 

Loans and receivables – – 3,625,113 3,625,113 

Financial assets at fair value through 
results 

- - 1,962,844 1,962,844 

Total (a) - - 5,587,957 5,587,957 

(b) Financial liabilities    

 
Interest at a 
variable rate 

Interest at  
a fixed rate 

Interest-free Total 

Long-term borrowings 3,039,464 - - 3,039,464 

Suppliers and other liabilities - - 4,804,864 4,804,864 

Short-term borrowings 1,723,908 - - 1,723,908 

Total (b) 4,763,372 - 4,804,864 9,568,236 

Net exposure 4,763,372    

31/12/2015     

(a) Financial Assets    

 
Interest at a 
variable rate 

Interest at a fixed 
rate 

Interest-
free 

Total 

Loans and receivables - - 3,630,443 3,630,443 

Financial assets at fair value through 
results 

- - 2,356,594 2,356,594 

Total (a) - - 5,987,037 5,987,037 
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(b) Financial liabilities 

 
Interest at a 
variable rate 

Interest at  
a fixed rate 

Interest-
free 

Total 

Long-term borrowings  

Suppliers and other liabilities 

Short-term borrowings 

Total (b) 

3,374,807 

- 

1,960,571 

5,335,378 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

4,804,864 

- 

4,804,864 

3,374,807 

4,804,864 

1,960,571 

10,140,242 

Net exposure 5,335,378    

     

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

 Variable Variable 

 1% -1% 1% -1% 

Profit/loss (before tax) 47,633.72 -47,633.72 53,353.78 -53,353.78 

Net worth -47,633.72 47,633.72 53,353.78 -53,353.78 

Credit risk 

The Company is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a 

loss for the other party by failing to pay for its obligation. Specifically, this risk is more focused on the Company’s 

risk of failing to recover its customers’ debts. 

The Company has established and applies credit control procedures in order to minimize credit risk and to 

immediately meet receivables with securities. Sales are primarily made to customers with an evaluated credit 

history. It is Company policy to only work with reputable customers. Where there are indications of doubtful 

debts, relevant impairment provisions are made. The customer base is fairly dispersed and there is no risk of 

dependence by large customers. 

The Company's management believes that receivables of high-quality credit have not been impaired. None of 

the Company’s financial assets have been secured by a mortgage or other form of credit security. For other 

receivables and other financial assets, the Company is not exposed to a significant credit risk. 
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Below is a table that summarizes the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk. 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 4,513 4,513 

Trade and other receivables 6,696,510 9,637,091 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,958,331 2,352,082 

Total 8,659,354 11,993,686 

Cash equivalents comprise of short-term, highly liquid investments, which are easily convertible into cash and 

are so close to maturity that they have a negligible risk for changes in their valuation at the time of liquidation 

and term deposits. The balance relating to receivables from customers, concerns the balance after impairment, 

without taking collateral or other credit upgrades into account. The Company's management believes that 

receivables of high-quality credit have not been impaired. For other receivables and other financial assets, the 

Company is not exposed to a significant credit risk. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables as at the balance sheet date by geographic region. 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Greece 2,659,619 2,347,489 

Rest of Europe 169,981 144,389 

America 260,636 258,734 

Africa 6,191 133,134 

Asia 528,686 746,697 

Total 3,625,113 3,630,443 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have difficulties in paying its financial liabilities. The Company 

manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring its long-term financial liabilities and daily payments. Liquidity 

needs are monitored in various time bands, on a daily and weekly basis and on a rolling 30-day period. Long-

term liquidity needs for the next 6 months and the next year are determined on a monthly basis. 

Below is a table that presents data on the maturity of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities. 

 Short-term Long-term Total 

31/12/2016      

 Within 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

 

Long-term borrowings   2,649,677 389,787 3,039,464 

Short-term borrowings 425,351 1,298,557   1,723,908 

Trade Liabilities (*) 3,910,007    3,910,007 

Other Liabilities 2,215,041 397,295   2,612,336 

Total 6,550,399 1,695,852 2,649,677 389,787 11,285,715 
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31/12/2015 Short-term Long-term Total 

 Within 6 
months 

6 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

 

Long-term borrowings   2,143,474 1,231,333 3,374,807 

Short-term borrowings 354,149 1,606,422   1,960,571 

Trade Liabilities (*) 3,042,205    3,042,205 

Other liabilities 527,430 4,403,643   4,931,073 

Total 3,923,784 5,430,707 2,143,474 1,810,691 13,308,656 

(*) Supplier balances (not advances from customers and third parties) 

Capital management 

Company policy is to maintain a strong capital base, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 

and to ensure the future development of activities. The Board monitors the return on equity, which is defined 

as the ratio of net profits divided by total equity. 

The Company’s overall borrowing in relation to its equity as at the reporting date is as follows: 

 
31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

  

Total Loans 4,763,372 5,335,378 

Less: Cash on hand 1,958,331 2,352,082 

Net Borrowing 2,805,041 2,983,297 

   

Total equity 7,908,178 1,628,843 

   

Borrowing to equity ratio 0.35 1.83 

7.3. Risk Management Policy 

The Board of Directors (BoD) has ultimate responsibility for the Company’s assumption of all kinds of risks, and 

their monitoring on a regular basis. Furthermore, the Board is responsible for monitoring the Company’s capital 

adequacy. 

The Board, through authorized personnel from the General, Finance and Commercial Departments: 

(a) establish and implement procedures and regulations that allow the identification of risks which are 

associated with the Company’s activities, procedures and operating systems (particularly credit risk, market 

risk and operational risk).  

(b) determines the acceptable risk level. 

(c) ensures that the Company has the necessary capital adequacy and overall risk management arising 

from its operation. 
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In particular, with regard to existing risks, the key risk management principles for each individual risk are: 

 Within the context of market risk management, the Finance Department sets the procedures and 

policies necessary for the effective prevention and management of the risk in question. It also 

ensures for the effective implementation of the procedures and regulation that are provided for this 

purpose, and in particular: 

 ensures that there capital adequacy in relation to the company’s financing exposures. 

 records the policy of approaches and calculation methods of the exposure values and adjustment 

of the value of these projections. 

 examines, in consultation with the company's expert consultants, the need to acquire risk hedging 

instruments, as well as the existence of alternative types of financing. 

 conducts relevant sensitivity analyzes and implements stress testing programs. 

 Within the context of credit risk management, the Board of Directors sets the procedures and policies 

necessary for the effective prevention and management of the credit risk. 

The Board, in cooperation with the Economic and Commercial Department: 

 establishes and applies credit control procedures in order to minimize credit risk and to immediately 

cover receivables with securities. 

 separates assets and other exposures into: - receivables overdue and - doubtful (impaired). 

 constantly checks its receivables, either individually or by group, and incorporates this information 

into the credit control 

 determines the amounts of required impairments of doubtful debts  

 evaluates the collateral provided in favor of the Company. 

 checks the integrity, reliability and accuracy of the data sources used and the procedure of such 

updates. 

 assesses, in cooperation with the Commercial Division, the customers’ creditworthiness. 

To reduce credit risk, the customers’ creditworthiness and the economic sector in which it operates, as well as 

qualitative and quantitative characteristics are taken into account. It is Company policy to only work with 

reputable customers. 

The Board, primarily in collaboration with the Finance Department, manages its liquidity needs by carefully 

monitoring scheduled payments for long-term liabilities, and cash outflows from its everyday activity. Liquidity 

needs are monitored in various time bands (daily, weekly, monthly). 
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8. Financial information by segment 

A business segment is defined as a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products and services 

that are subject to different risks and returns compared to other business segments. The Company has only 

one business segment, namely, that of mining, processing and marketing of standard or non-standard marble 

products. The business segment is the Company’s primary data segment. 

A geographical segment is defined a geographical area where products and services are provided and which is 

subject to different risks and returns compares to other areas. The Company operates in the Greek territory, in 

the Eurozone, America, Asia and Africa. 

Secondary information segment - geographical segments  

The Company's sales per geographical segment are analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Greece 5,360,669 3,804,970 30.79% 23.87% 

Rest of Europe 1,521,541 1,514,413 8.74% 9.50% 

America 730,280 512,507 4.19% 3.22% 

Africa 12,053 154,396 0.07% 0.97% 

Asia 9,788,653 9,950,976 56.21% 62.44% 

Total 17,413,197 15,937,263 100.00% 100.00% 

Secondary information per product - services 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Sales of goods - merchandise 2,575,398 4,197,071 

Sale of raw materials 14,698,078 11,712,278 

Revenue from services 139,721 27,914 

 17,413,197 15,937,263 
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9. Notes on the Financial Statements 

9.1. Tangible Assets 

The Company’s land plots and buildings were valued as at the date of transition to the IFRS (01/01/2015) at 

fair value, which was determined further to a study by an independent appraising firm. The arising difference 

was transferred to equity. 

The additions of use in the land and buildings categories were initially valued at their acquisition cost and then 

as at 31/12/2016 they were revalued to their fair market value based on the valuation of these properties by 

independent appraisers. Revaluation of property, plant and equipment resulted in earnings after taxes 

amounting to EUR 101,132 which are presented in a revaluation reserve of other assets, which is in Equity. 

 Plots Buildings Mechanical 
Equipment 

Transporta
tion 

equipment 

Furniture & 
Other 

equipment 

Assets under 
construction 

Total 

Acquisition cost        

Balance 31 December 2014 367,870 1,982,497 4,024,915 184,267 144,853 567,592 7,271,994 

Additions 11,514 24,755 98,324 11,273 22,053 706,888 874,807 
Reductions - Removals       - 
Fixed asset sales / write-offs       - 
Absorption of Associate 109,467 567,798 5,629,520 471,627 59,699 28,200 6,866,311 
Transportation  628,972 517,940   (1,146,912) - 

Balance 31 December 2015 488,851 3,204,022 10,270,699 667,168 226,605 155,768 15,013,112 

Additions 359,531 130,327 908,098 19,580 27,304 246,695 1,691,535 
Fair value 142,439      142,439 
Fixed asset sales / write-offs       - 
Absorption of Associate       - 
Transportation  73,315 86,491 100,000 133,657 (393,463) - 

Balance 31 December 2016 990,821 3,407,665 11,265,288 786,747 387,565 9,000 16,847,086 

Depreciation / Impairments 

       

Balance 31 December 2014 - (263,081) (1,806,866) (90,388) (91,067) - (2,251,402) 

Fiscal year depreciations  (102,959) (378,140) (20,314) (13,273)  (514,686) 
Impairment - Removals       - 
Absorption of Associate  (46,365) (2,977,145) (360,787) (16,693)  (3,400,991) 
Fixed asset sales / write-offs       - 

Balance 31 December 2015 - (412,405) (5,162,150) (471,490) (121,034)  (6,167,079) 

Fiscal year depreciations  (137,402) (990,870) (70,557) (25,137)  (1,223,967) 
Absorption of Associate       - 
Impairment - Removals       - 
Fixed asset sales / write-offs       - 

Balance 31 December 2016 - (549,807) (6,153,020) (542,047) (146,171) - (7,391,045) 

 
 Plots Buildings Mechanical 

Equipment 
Transportatio
n equipment 

Furniture & 
Other 

equipment 

Assets under 
construction 

Total 

 

Undepreciated value 

On 31/12/2014 367,870 1,719,416 2,218,049 93,879 53,786 567,592 5,020,592 

On 31/12/2015 488,851 2,791,617 5,108,548 195,678 105,571 155,768 8,846,034 

On 31/12/2016 990,821 2,857,858 5,112,268 244,700 241,394 9,000 9,456,041 

On the aforementioned fixed assets of the Company, pre-notations have been subscribed to secure its bank 

loan amounting to € 4 million (2015: EUR 4.2 million). 

The net book value of finance leased property, plant and equipment purchased as at 31 December 2016 

amounts to € 1,620,334 (31 December 2015: € 1,090,604), detailed as follows by property, plant and 

equipment category: 
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 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 
Property 683,109 - 
Plant and equipment 937,225 1,090,604 
Transportation equipment - - 
Other equipment - - 

Total 1,620,334 1,090,604 

9.2. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets relate to the value of software programs (the value of licenses, upgrades, etc) and quarry 

restoration costs. The items relating to the Company's intangible assets during the 2016 fiscal year and 

comparable 2015 fiscal year are listed below: 

 Software Quarry 
restoration costs 

Total 

Balance 1/1/2015 2,000 - 2,000 

Additions 6,150 - 6,150 

Absorption of Associate 1,076 552,674 553,750 

Balance 31/12/2015 9,226 552,674 561,900 

Additions - - - 

Balance 31/12/2016 9,226 552,674 561,900 

 
Depreciation/Impairment    

Balance 1/1/2015 (167) - (167) 

Fiscal year depreciations (810) - (810) 

Absorption of Associate (1,076) (98,410) (99,486) 

Balance 31/12/2015 (2,053) (98,410) (100,463) 

Fiscal year depreciations (1,630) (18,403) (20,033) 

Balance 31/12/2016 (3,683) (116,813) (120,495) 

 
Current value    

On 31/12/2014 1,833 0 1,833 

On 31/12/2015 7,173 454,264 461,437 

On 31/12/2016 5,543 435,862 441,405 
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9.3. Other Long-Term Receivables 

Other long-term receivables are analyzed below: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Securities granted 5,649 11,811 

Total 5,649 11,811 

9.4. Inventories 

The Company’s inventories are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Finished and semi-finished products 4,094,888 2,547,430 

Total 4,094,888 2,547,430 

9.5. Customers and other trade Receivables 

The Company’s Customers and other trade receivables are detailed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

   

Customers 1,743,944 1,251,413 

Less: Impairment provisions (90,386) - 

Letters of Credit in portfolio 278,411 435,100 

Checks receivable 504,089 766,660 

Down payments on inventory purchases 1,189,055 1,177,271 

Net Trade Receivables 3,625,113 3,630,443 

Provisions for doubtful debts are recognized on an individual basis when there is objective evidence that the 

Company will not collect all the amounts available under the original terms of the sale contract. Non-collectability 

indications comprise of the delay in recovering debts and the customers-debtors’ significant financial difficulties. 

The provision amount is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated cash flows to be 

received. 

The carrying amount of receivables is reduced through a contra account (provision), with the recognition of the 

reduction in the results under "Other Expenses". Subsequent recoveries of impaired amounts are recognized as 

income under the "Other income" item. 
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9.6. Other receivables 

The Company’s other receivables are detailed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

   

Greek State – prepaid and withholding taxes 1,921,954 763,622 

Greek State – VAT receivable 1,054,718 1,821,465 

Short-term receivables from affiliates - 3,348,600 

Prepayment & credit management accounts 3,352 - 

Prepaid expenses 91,374 72,961 

Total 3,071,397 6,006,648 

9.7. Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Cash on hand 794,422 1,576,850 

Bank deposits in € 1,129,070 741,095 

Bank deposits in $ 5,289 4,587 

Term deposits in € 29,550 29,550 

Total 1,958,331 2,352,082 

From deposits with banks amounting to € 174,932.85 (31/12/2015: € 213,932.85) are deposits reserved for 

securing long-term loans. 

9.8. Share capital 

The evolution of the share capital is as follows: 

 
Number of 

shares 
 Share Capital 

Balances 1/1/2015 622,540  1,883,425 

Changes during the year -  - 

Balances 31/12/2015 622,540  1,883,425 

Changes during the year 335,214  922,794 

Balances 31/12/2016 957,754  2,806,219 
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In the closed year, the share capital was reduced due to the merger by absorption of BIRROS I. - PAPPOS & 

CO, BIRROS IOANNIS, I. BIRROS - F. PAISIOS - G. KOROMPELIS & CO by € 59,385.83 and a capital increase 

took place with the participation of MARMOR SG SA by € 982,177.02 through debt settlement with the issuance 

of 335,214 new registered shares with nominal value € 2.93 each and selling price € 13.42426032 each. The 

above par value resulting from the issue of the above 335,214 registered shares was € 3,517,822.98, and has 

been credited to a share premium account. 

9.9. Reserves 

The Company's reserves are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

  

Statutory reserves 268,240 268,240 

Reserves from value adjustment of tangible assets 101,132 - 

Total 369,372 268,240 

9.10. Borrowings 

The Company’s borrowings are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Long-term liabilities   

- Secured bank loans 2,664,009 3,290,258 

- Finance Lease Obligations 375,455 84,549 

 3,039,464 3,374,807 

Short term liabilities   

- Secured bank loans 1,006,424 1,167,823 

- Long Term Lease Liabilities payable in the next financial year 260,519 256,535 

- Long term borrowings payable in the next period 456,964 536,213 

 1,723,907 1,960,571 

Total borrowings 4,763,372 5,335,378 
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All loans are denominated in EUR. The aforementioned loans have been contracted at floating interest rate 

(Euribor plus margin for EUR loans) and the following collaterals have been offered: 

 Mortgage prenotation on the company's property amounting to € 2,4 million (2015: € 2.4 million); 

 Fictitious collateral for mechanical equipment amounting to € 1.6 million (2015: € 1.8 million); 

 Deposit pledge amounting to € 175 thousand (2015: € 214 thousand). 

 Also, for loans amounting to € 2.9 million, the Greek Government has provided 80% of the capital 

under initial Ministerial Decisions. 

The weighted average interest rate on loans in EUR changed during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 

amounted to 8.00% (9.00% in 2015). 

Total interest expenses of bank loans for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 amounted t o  

€  396,521.36 and € 470,585.33 respectively and are included in financial expenses in the accompanying income 

statements. 

9.11. Grants 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Balance on 1st January 206,096 128,053 

Subsidy amortizations (159,134) (62,267) 

Additions - 140,311 

Balance on 31st December 46,962 206,096 

9.12. Deferred taxes 

The income tax rate to which the Company is subject to stands at 29% for 2015 and 2016. Deferred tax is 

calculated based on the tax rate that is applicable in the year that the recognition of income or expense will 

occur. The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to 

apply in the period in which the debt will be settled or the liability is arranged, taking into account the above 

enacted tax rates. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when, on the Company side, a legally enforceable right to do so 

exists and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same tax authority. 

The Company’s remaining deferred tax liabilities and receivables are as follows: 
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 31/12/2015  (Charge)/ 
Credit to 
results 

 (Charge)/ 
Credit to equity 

 31/12/2016 

Non-Current Assets        

Intangible Assets 49,909  2,749  -  52,658 

Tangible Assets (735,268)  120,200  (41,307)  (656,375) 

Long-term Liabilities     -   

Employee Benefits 6,646  15,793  2,462  24,901 

Grants 59,768  (46,149)  -  13,619 

Short-term Liabilities        

Finance Leases 98,914  (92,403)  -  6,511 

Total (520,031)  191  (38,845)  (558,686) 

Deferred tax assets – liabilities are as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Deferred tax assets 97,689 215,237 

Deferred tax liabilities (656,375) (735,268) 

Offsetting debit balance (558,686) (520,031) 

9.13. Employee benefits due to retirement 

Employee benefits due to retirement are as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Liabilities Balance on 1 January 23,290 20,836 

Net period expense 54,460 5,141 

Actuarial Gains/(Losses) 8,490 (187) 

Compensations paid - (2,500) 

Balance on 31 December 86,240 23,290 

Provision for personnel compensation that was recognized in the Income Statement: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

   

Current service cost 11,925 4,987 

Financial cost 466 417 

Merger of companies 42,376 - 

Effect of curtailments or settlements of voluntary 
retirement 

(307) (263) 

Total recognition in results 54,460 5,141 
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 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Current liability value 77,750 23,478 

Cumulative unrecognized actuarial loss 8,490 (187) 

Balance sheet provision 86,240 23,291 

 

Key actuarial assumptions:   

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

   

Discount rate 1.60% 2.00% 

Rate of future salary increases 3.00% 3.00% 

 

9.14. Other long-term liabilities 

Related to quarry restoration costs. 

9.15. Suppliers and other liabilities 

The balances of suppliers and the Company’s other related liabilities are analyzed below 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Down payments from customers 894,857 5,666,017 

Domestic suppliers 748,277 732,456 

Foreign suppliers 16,445 23,757 

Cheques payable 3,145,285 2,285,992 

Total 4,804,864 8,708,222 

The above carrying values simultaneously reflect their fair values.  

9.16. Current tax liabilities 

The Company’s current tax liabilities are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Income Tax Liability 1,285,727 1,613,512 

Other tax Liabilities 38,299 341,277 

Total 1,324,026 1,954,789 
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9.17. Other short-term liabilities 

The company’s other short-term liabilities are analyzed as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Dividends payable 315,579 - 

Personnel Salaries Payable 197,435 360,772 

Other short-term liabilities 1,618,112 4,313,643 

Insurance agencies 288,185 205,867 

VAT 0 21,495 

Other taxes & fees 61,962 18,880 

Accrued expenses 131,063 10,416 

Total 2,612,336 4,931,073 

9.18. Sales 

The Company's sales are analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Sales of goods - merchandise 2,575,398 4,197,071 

Sale of raw materials 14,698,078 11,712,278 

Revenue from services 139,721 27,914 

Total 17,413,197 15,937,263 

9.19. Cost Sharing 

The Company's cost of goods sold is analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Cost of inventories recognized as an expense 1,600,350 7,496,564 

Personnel remunerations & expenses 4,116,204 898,165 

Third-party remunerations & expenses 204,303 27,996 

Provisions for staff compensation 48,151 2,335 

Third-party benefits 172,766 26,173 

Rental costs 652,291 14,434 

Repairs and maintenance 1,133,278 142,659 

Other taxes-fees 82,705 5,303 

Depreciations 1,027,729 425,876 

Other sundry expenses 421,138 330,742 

Total 9,458,915 9,370,247 
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The Company's selling expenses are analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Personnel remunerations & expenses 130,506 28,477 

Third-party remunerations & expenses 98,908 12,785 

Transportation expenses 143,305 35,218 

Special export promotion expenses 1,484,161 1,319,610 

Advertising and promotion costs 47,575 26,324 

Consumables 61,265 5,900 

Provisions 90,386 - 

Depreciations 70,085 29,042 

Other sundry expenses 90,444 47,865 

Total 2,216,635 1,505,221 

The Company's administrative expenses are analyzed as follows: 

 
01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Personnel remunerations & expenses 408,732 89,186 

Third-party remunerations & expenses 157,492 21,535 

Other taxes-fees 199,499 12,792 

Rental costs 51,214 2,095 

Repairs and maintenance 88,979 11,201 

Depreciations 146,185 60,577 

Other sundry expenses 255,875 190,268 

Total 1,307,976 387,654 

9.20. Other operating income 

The Company’s other operating income is analyzed as follows: 

 
01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Rental income 18,000 - 

Subsidy amortizations 168,363 62,267 

Compensations 1,524 - 

Profit from selling waste materials 5,233 - 

Profit from sale of fixed assets 11,101 500 

Sundry income 202,568 6,417 

Total 406,789 69,184 

The amount of 196,186 included in Sundry Income refers to the refund of excise duty and the rest is account 

settlements. 
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9.21. Other operating expenses 

The Company’s other operating expenses are analyzed as follows: 

 
01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Prior period expenses 56,096 29,453 

Tax fines and surcharges 34,300 7,859 

Other Expenses 349,860 2,072,441 

Total 440,256 2,109,753 

9.22. Financial income 

The Company’s financial income is analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016- 
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015-
31/12/2015  

Other interest income 291 405 

Total 291 405 

9.23. Financial expenses 

The Company’s financial expenses are analyzed as follows: 

 
01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Interest and long-term borrowing costs 295,529 387,679 

Interest and expenses of other short-term bank 
financing 

100,992 82,906 

Interest and expenses of other short-term obligations – 
leasing 

18,699 28,947 

Special tax on bank services, loans and credit 
agreements 

7,367 2,176 

Commission paid for letters of guarantee 32,059 17,254 

Interest and collection expenses of receivables through 
factoring  

59,783 11,702 

Other expenses related to financing 56,064 44,681 

Total 570,493 575,345 

9.24. Income tax 

Under tax law 4334/2015, which was passed on 16/07/2015 and Law 4336/2015, which was passed on 

14/8/2015, the income tax rate for legal entities that are seated in Greece rose from 26% to 29% for the fiscal 

years beginning on 1 January 2015 and the prepaid income tax rate was increased from 80% to 100% for 

profits generated in fiscal years beginning from 1 January 2014 and onwards. 
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The Company's income tax is analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Current income tax 1,285,728 1,188,783 

Deferred tax for the period (191) 82,927 

Total 1,285,537 1,271,710 

 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 3,826,002 2,058,632 

Income tax calculated at the applicable tax rate (29%) 1,109,541 597,003 

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 175,996 621,531 

Effect of changes in tax rate - 53,176 

Total 1,285,537 1,271,711 

 34% 62% 

9.25. Basic gains/losses per share 

The Company’s Gains per share are analyzed as follows: 

 01/01/2016-
31/12/2016 

01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

Gains - Losses after tax attributable 2,540,465 786,922 

Weighted average shares 762,213 622,540 

Gains - Losses after tax per share - basic (in €) 3.3330 1.2641 

9.26. The company’s financial instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments that are included in the financial statements are analyzed as follows: 

Categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities 

 Balance Sheet Items  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Non-current assets       

Loans and receivables  Long-term receivables (*)  -  - 

Total    -  - 

Current assets 
      

Loans and receivables  Customers and other trade 
receivables (*) 

 2,436,058  2,453,172 

Financial assets at fair value through results  Cash and cash equivalents  1,958,331  2,352,082 

Total    4,394,389  4,805,254 

Total financial assets  4,394,389  4,805,254 
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Long-term liabilities       

Financial liabilities at amortized cost  Long-term borrowings  3,039,464  3,374,807 

Total    3,039,464  3,374,807 

Short term liabilities 
      

  Suppliers and other liabilities (*)  3,910,008  3,042,205 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost  Short-term liabilities  2,612,336  4,931,073 

  Short-term borrowings  1,723,907  1,960,571 

Total    8,246,251  9,933,849 

Total financial liabilities  11,285,715  13,308,656 

(*) The item relative to its presentation in the Balance sheet differs according to: 

 receivables or obligations that do not involve the transfer of cash or other financial assets. 

 down payments for the purchase of goods, tangible and intangible assets or services because they 

are not expected to be covered with cash or other financial assets, but with inventories, tangible or 

intangible assets or services. 

 down payments received from customers for the future sale of services  

 prepaid expenses or deferred income that are not contractual obligations for the receipt or delivery 

of cash or other financial assets. 

 non-contractual receivables that are imposed by state regulations. 
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10. Transactions with related parties and remuneration to senior 

Management 

Analyzed below are the amounts of the Company’s purchases and sales from and to related parties as defined 

by IAS 24, from the beginning of the current period 1/1 - 31/12/2016 and 1/1-31/12/2015 and the above 

companies’ assets and liabilities balances on 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015: 

  01/01/2016 - 31/12/2016  

BIRROS HELLENIC  
MARBLE SA 

 
Sales of goods 
and services 

Purchases of goods 
and services 

Receivables Liabilities 

      

MARMOR SG SA SHAREHOLDER 3,088,070 147,431 646,914 117,231 

DANAI LTD 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
52,442 216,640 1,115,815  

BIRROS IOANNIS 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
310,303  78,076  

STONE GROUP MARBLE 

MINING 

SHAREHOLDER 
INTEREST 

1,381  1,381  

TOTALS  3,452,196 364,071 1,842,186 117,231 

 
01/01/2015 - 31/12/2015 

BIRROS HELLENIC MARBLE 
SA 

 
Sales of goods 
and services 

Purchases of goods 
and services 

Receivables Liabilities 

      

BIRROS I. – PAPPOS & CO 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
500 6,909,184  (886,127) 

I. BIRROS - F. PAISIOS - 

G.KOROMPELIS & CO 

SHAREHOLDER 
INTEREST 

 9,843  (1,620,230) 

BIRROS IOANNIS & CO 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
 1,430 1,302,689  

DANAI LTD 
SHAREHOLDER 

INTEREST 
190,853 8,100  (725,971) 

BIRROS IOANNIS SHAREHOLDER 183,449  207,021 (103,461) 

TOTALS  374,802 6,928,557 1,509,710 (3,335,790) 

Note that there are no fees to Board members and no loans have been granted to Board members. Or other 

Company directors (and their families). 
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11. Contingent assets - liabilities 

(a) Legal cases: 

There are no disputed or under arbitration disputes by courts or arbitration bodies that may have a significant 

impact on the Company’s financial position or operation. 

(b) Unaudited Fiscal Years 

The company has not been audited for fiscal years 2010-2016. 

(c) Commitments: 

(i) Guarantees: 

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had the following contingent liabilities: 

 The Company had issued goodwill letters of a total amount of € 22,228 with a time deposit of € 7,673 

as collateral and the amount is the same for 2015. 

 The Company had provided goodwill letters for subsidized investment programs amounting to 

€ 1,370,754 and the amount is the same for 2015. 

 The Company had provided goodwill letters related to public contracts amounting to € 315,335 with 

a time deposit of € 35,673 as collateral; that amount was € 305,335 on 31/12/2015 with a time 

deposit of € 30,673 as collateral. 

(ii) Commitments from operating leases: 

Total rental costs are included in the accompanying income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016, 

amounting to € 45,818 (2015: ). 

Minimum future lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases on 31 December 2016 and 

2015 are as follows: 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Within one year 46,404 42,888 

2-5 years 46,932 82,202 

After 5 years 0 0 

Total 93,336 125,090 
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12. Number of employed personnel and payroll costs 

The Company’s number of employed personnel is analyzed as follows: 

People 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Salaried 61 15 
Wages 127 42 

Total 188 57 

The Company has incurred the following amounts in relation to employed personnel: 

Fees 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Salaried 1,090,274 212,402 

Wages 1,859,518 586,941 

Total 2,949,792 799,343 

 
Social Charges 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Salaried 293,192 54,590 

Wages 521,262 161,894 

Total 814,454 216,484 

 
 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Salaried 1,383,466 266,992 

Wages 2,380,780 748,835 

Total 3,764,246 1,015,827 

13. Events after the balance sheet date 

No other significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date of the financial statements which are 

required to be mentioned. 

DRAMA INDUSTRIAL ZONE, 08/06/2017 

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD VICE-CHAIRMAN  
OF THE BOARD & CEO 

THE GENERAL DIRECTOR THE HEAD OF THE 

ACCOUNTING 

DEPARTMENT  
   

IOANNIS M. BIRROS 
ID ΑΖ 394910/08 

IOANNIS A ANTONIADIS 
ID ΑΕ 640922/07 

CHARALAMPOS C. RALLIS 
ID ΑΖ 162920/07 

DIMITRIOS S. ALEXIADIS 
ID Χ 941780/03 

 


